RECEIVED

MAY 12 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2001-GS-29-0071, 0072, 0073, 0346
Appellate Case No. 2013-002616

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

LAKEITHON M. HALL,

APPELLANT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Tricia A. Blanchette
Bar No. 74904
PO Box 12725
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 988-0008
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A CONTINUANCE.
- II. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE EVIDENCE OFFERED WAS NEWLY AVAILABLE EVIDENCE THAT COULD BE USED MERELY FOR IMPEACHMENT AND WOULD NOT HAVE CHANGED THE OUTCOME OF A TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the February 2001 term of the Lancaster County Grand Jury, Appellant was indicted on two counts of Murder (Indictment No.: 2001-GS-29-71, 346), one count of Attempted Armed Robbery (Indictment No.: 2001-GS-29-72), and one count of Possession of a Firearm during a Violent Crime (Indictment No.: 2001-GS-29-73). On December 9, 2002, Appellant appeared in front of the Honorable Paul E. Short at the Lancaster County Courthouse and entered a plea of guilty as indicted. Appellant was represented by Ross Burton, Esquire. The State was represented by Douglas A. Barfield, Jr., Senior Assistant Solicitor. The Honorable Paul E. Short sentenced Appellant to a total term of thirty-eight (38) years. A direct appeal was not filed on Appellant's behalf.

On October 14, 2003, Appellant filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief in Lancaster County (Docket No.: 2003-CP-39-960). On March 1, 2006, an evidentiary hearing was held at the Lancaster County Courthouse in front of the Honorable John C. Hayes, III. Appellant was represented by Govan T. Meyers, Esquire. The State was represented by Molly R. Crum, Assistant Attorney General. On March 2, 2006, the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, issued an Order denying the Application for Post Conviction Relief.

Appellant timely filed a Notice of Intent to Appeal in the South Carolina Supreme Court, and his appeal was perfected by Wanda H. Carter, Esquire, from the Division of Appellate Defense. On May 22, 2008, the South Carolina Supreme Court denied Certiorari, and the Remittitur was issued on June 9, 2008.

On July 7, 2008, Appellant filed a pro-se Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. (Docket No.: 09-7543). On December 8, 2008, the State moved for Summary Judgment.

After the Honorable Bruce Howe Hendricks issued his Report and Recommendation granting the State's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Honorable R. Bryan Harwell adopted the Report and Recommendation on July 31, 2009.

On August 14, 2009, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal seeking a Certificate of Appealability in the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals. On January 21, 2010, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals denied and dismissed Appellant's appeal. A timely Petition for Rehearing was submitted, which was denied on March 5, 2010.

On May 17, 2010, Appellant filed a pro-se Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the Supreme Court of the United States (Docket No.: 10-5259). On October 4, 2010, an Order denying Petition for Writ of Certiorari was entered.

On July 17, 2013, Appellant, through counsel, submitted a Motion Pursuant to Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP, to the Lancaster County Clerk of Court. By way of attachments, Appellant's Motion included the affidavits of Appellant, Calvin Peay (Peay) and Brandon Cunningham (Cunningham). By way of the Motion, Appellant requested that counsel be appointed for Peay and Cunningham. On August 12, 2013, the Honorable J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., issued an Order Granting Appointment of Counsel for Peay and Cunningham.

On August 30, 2013, a hearing was held in front of the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons at the Lancaster County Courthouse. Appellant was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. The State was represented by Solicitor Douglas A. Barfield, Jr. Appointed counsel for Peay and Cunningham were present, but Peay and Cunningham failed to appear. Tricia A. Blanchette explained that Peay and Cunningham had been properly served subpoenas, and she requested a continuance. Motion Transcript p. 5-6. The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons denied the request for a continuance. Motion

Transcript p. 6. During the hearing, arguments were made and documents were introduced by both parties. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons took the matter under advisement.

Following the hearing, the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons instructed the State to submit a proposed Order. On November 12, 2013, the Order was issued and filed, from which this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 20, 2000, Deputies Jeff Jackson and Todd Wallace, of the Lancaster County Sheriff's Department encountered a car being driven erratically on Arch Street in the City of Lancaster. Plea Transcript p. 13-14. Upon making contact with the car, the deputies discovered that Tommy Jury was driving the car and his pregnant wife (Sheila Jury) was in the passenger seat with a gunshot wound to her left shoulder / upper arm. Plea Transcript p. 14, lns. 5-9. E.M.S. arrived on the scene, and Mrs. Jury was transported to the emergency room at Springs Memorial Hospital, where she was pronounced deceased upon arrival. Plea Transcript p. 14, lns. 12-15. An emergency c-section was performed, and Sheila Catherine Jury (baby) was delivered and immediately resuscitated. Plea Transcript p. 14, lns. 16-20. Thereafter, she was transported to Carolinas Medical Center, where she remained on life support for several days. Plea Transcript pp. 14-15. Following a consult regarding the likelihood of serious and permanent mental injuries, Mr. Jury chose to discontinue life support and the baby was deceased within thirty minutes after life support was discontinued. Plea Transcript p. 15, lns. 8-15.

Mr. Jury informed the deputies that his wife had been shot at Pardue Street Apartments, and law enforcement, including city, county and SLED agents, converged on the apartment complex. Plea Transcript p. 15, lns. 16-21. Based upon identifications made by Mr. Jury, three black males were arrested at the scene (Peay, Cunningham and Alexander).

On November 21, 2000, Mr. Jury gave a statement to Pat Parsons of the Lancaster City Police Department, which provided the following details. Plea Transcript p. 16, lns.

1-3. Mr. Jury and his wife were returning from Columbia where they had received an insurance settlement check for \$4,500.00. They went to Palmetto Bank on Main Street and deposited \$4,200.00 and stopped at McDonalds. After leaving McDonalds, they took Highway Nine and headed back into town. Mrs. Jury asked Mr. Jury to head back to the bank to get a money order, so Mr. Jury took Pardue Street to cut back to the bank. He found the road to be a dead end, turned around and began driving back out with his window two thirds of the way down. He saw three black males and one stated "Hey man, what do you want?" He responded that he did not want anything and he was lost. A young black male said "Give me your money," and he told him that he did not have any money. He saw the young black male pull a small dark colored revolver from his jacket and he stepped on the gas. As he was driving away, the young black male shot one time at the car, and he saw another light skinned black male standing near the shooter.

After their arrest, both Peay and Cunningham gave a series of statements. In his first statement given on November 20, 2000, Peay denied hearing gun shots or having any information that would help police. He explained that he was returning from Johnny's Mart and he arrived back at Pardue with Brandon Cunningham and Darrel Alexander.

In his second statement that same day, which was audio/video recorded and summarized via incident report and at the motion hearing by the Solicitor, Peay stated that he was standing with Appellant, Cunningham, Heywood Watts (Watts) and Derrico Stevens (Stevens) in the 1800 block of Pardue Street Apartments when they saw two white people turn into the block, turn around and drive back towards them. Appellant said he was going to rob them and yelled at the car, which came to a stop. Appellant made

contact with the driver, who wanted to buy drugs, and Appellant told him to back up to the 1600 block. Peay asked Appellant not to rob the victims, and he was not aware that Appellant had a gun. Appellant approached the vehicle, which took off. Appellant fired one time into the vehicle. Peay ran to his apartment and Appellant followed him. Appellant hid the gun under the mattress of Peay's bed and left.

On November 21, 2000, Peay agreed to take a polygraph. Prior to the polygraph, Peay was interviewed and provided a third statement. In this statement, he stated that Appellant told them that the victim wanted to buy "8 20's" of dope. Appellant asked for Peay's gun, which he had found in the woods a couple days prior, and Peay gave it to him but turned around and was not paying attention. He recalled hearing the car spinning out and the gun shot and running to his apartment. Appellant was right behind him and returned the gun, and Peay put it under the mattress.

Later that day, Peay gave a fourth statement, which was video taped and summarized via incident report. In this statement, Peay gave the additional details that Hall stated "I want to try and get them, let me hold that gun." Appellant took Peay's gun and walked over to the car and tried to rob them. When the car attempted to leave, Appellant pointed the pistol at the car and fired one shot. Peay stated that he had only had the gun for one day after finding it in the woods.

On November 22, 2000, Peay provided a fifth statement, in which he indicated that Stevens gave the gun to Hall. In response to why he waited to give this information, he stated that Stevens "did not get caught up and everybody would know that I told."

Turning to Cunningham's statements, he provided a three page statement on November 20, 2000 that stated that he was walking back from Johnny's Mart and headed

to KFC with Peay and Alexander when he was stopped by police around 5:00 p.m. on November 20, 2000. He did not hear any gunshots or know anything that would help police.

In his second statement given later that day, he agreed that he was in the Pardue Street Apartments on November 19, 2000 at 1:15 a.m. and he came in contact with a man that had dropped a female off in the 2300 block. The man asked for marijuana, and Cunningham told him no one sold marijuana and to get out of the projects. He did not hear the man's response because the car was running, but he told him again to get out of the projects. He struck him with his hand because "I have never seen his face before," and the man backed up and was leaving. As the man was leaving, "some shots were fired," but he did not have a gun or know who fired the shots.

On November 22, 2000, Cunningham provided a third statement. He stated that Stevens was not present when the shooting took place. He further stated that a white couple came into the 1900 block of Pardue Apartments and the male driver rolled down his window and asked for "8 twenties." Everyone said the man "was the police." Appellant shot at the man, the bullet missed him and hit the woman in the car.

Later that day, Cunningham provided a fourth statement. In this statement, he indicated that he was standing with Watts, Peay, Appellant and Stevens when a white couple drove by them. The car turned around and backed into a parking space across from them. He went over to the car, and the man told him he wanted "8-20's." He was walking back to the guys and passed Appellant and told him what the man wanted. Appellant leaned into the driver's side, and Cunningham heard a gunshot. They all ran, and he heard the car tires spin out.

After his arrest, Appellant did not give a statement to law enforcement.

At the motion hearing, the Solicitor acknowledged that six people, including Peay and Cunningham, were charged as principals. Plea Transcript p. 27, lns. 18-20. As a result of his plea agreement with the State, Cunningham “pled guilty to misprision of felony and some unrelated charges, and received a five year sentence suspended to two years, followed by two years probation.” Plea Transcript p. 27, lns. 22-24. Peay was also extended a plea agreement by the State, and he “pled guilty to accessory before attempted armed robbery, and he also pled guilty to possession of a pistol under 21 for his possession of the pistol and provision of the pistol to Lakeithon Hall which became the murder weapon, he got an eight year sentence on the accessory before the armed robbery.” Plea Transcript p. 29, lns. 3-8.

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court erred in denying Appellant's request for a continuance.

Appellant submits that the lower court erred in denying his request for a continuance due to the absence of two necessary witnesses. On appeal, the lower court's ruling on a motion to continue will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Yarborough, 363 S.C. 260, 609 S.E.2d 592 (Ct. App. 2005). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. Colden, 372 S.C. 428, 435, 641 S.E.2d 912, 917 (Ct. App. 2007), State v. Irick, 344 S.C. 460, 464, 545 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001), State v. Funderburk, 367 S.C. 236, 239, 625 S.E.2d 248, 249-50 (Ct. App. 2006). The lower court's ruling will not be disturbed if there is any evidence to support the ruling. Colden, 372 S.C. 428, 435-36, 641 S.E.2d 912, 917 (Ct. App. 2007), State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). For the lower court's ruling to be reversed, Appellant also must show that he was prejudiced as a result of the trial court's error since an error without prejudice does not warrant reversal. State v. Preslar, 364 S.C. 466, 473, 613 S.E.2d 381, 385 (Ct. App. 2005).

At the beginning of the motion hearing, Appellant's counsel explained that affidavits of Calvin Peay and Brandon Cunningham were attached to the Motion Pursuant to Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP, and Peay and Cunningham had been subpoenaed to be present at the hearing. Motion Transcript p. 5. Counsel further explained that appointed counsel were present in the courtroom to advise Peay and Cunningham prior to taking the stand. Motion Transcript p. 5. As a result of their absence, counsel requested "a continuance for additional time to secure their presence." Motion Transcript p. 5, lns. 12-15.

In response, the State objected to the continuance. Motion Transcript p. 5, lns. 17-23. The State argued that the motion should fail for “inability to prosecute.” Motion Transcript p. 5, lns. 17-23. Thereafter, the court ruled as follows:

Well, I’m going to deny the continuance to extent that their live testimony is necessary here today, we will go ahead and hear it. I have what their sworn testimony purports to be, obviously the fact that they are not here, I don’t know what to draw from that, but I will consider all of that when I look over everything.

Motion Transcript p. 6, lns. 12-17.

Following the court’s ruling, the State further argued that the hearing should not proceed based upon the affidavits since the lower court could not make a proper credibility assessment, yet the State agreed with the court that he could draw a negative inference from the witnesses’ failure to appear.¹ Motion Transcript pp. 6-9. After the State’s argument and brief response from Appellant’s counsel, the court questioned:

Well, if I make a credibility assessment that puts in the issue of whether or not a continuance is necessary because the witnesses are not here which brings up the whole adverse inference thing as to whether or not I can consider that in support of a motion or not.

Motion Transcript p. 8, lns. 17-21.

Not abandoning her request for a continuance, Appellant’s counsel explained that pursuant to Rule 29(b), which did not preclude the consideration of affidavits alone, along with State v. DeAngelis, 256 S.C. 364, 371, 182 S.E.2d 732, 735 (1971) and State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 672 S.E.2d 556 (2009), it was proper for the motion to proceed based upon the affidavits submitted to the court. Motion Transcript pp. 9-10. After reviewing Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP, in conjunction with Rule 59, SCRCP, and the case law provided, the lower court found that he would consider the witnesses’ absence “under the

¹ The Solicitor conceded that he was “arguing kind of out of both sides of my mouth.” Motion Transcript p. 8, lns. 23-4.

ambient of deciding their credibility,” but he would allow the motion to proceed since he denied the request for a continuance. Motion Transcript p. 10, ln. 22 – 11, ln. 17.

Appellant submits that the lower court abused his discretion in denying his request for a continuance. Appellant further submits that the prejudice suffered is apparent from the court’s comments at the hearing as well as his findings in the Order.

Turning to the Order, the lower court found that the evidence contained in the affidavits of Peay and Cunningham was newly available, not newly discovered. Due to the lower court’s denial of the continuance, this assessment was made without hearing from Peay and Cunningham as to whether they would have provided the information contained in their affidavits at the time Appellant was facing a trial. Appellant submits that it is clear that this finding was prejudicially impacted by the court’s failure to grant a continuance.

As to the court’s credibility assessment, he made it clear at the hearing that he would draw a negative inference from the absence of Peay and Cunningham. His comments were substantiated by his finding in the Order, which reads: “Finally, both Cunningham and Peay failed to appear to testify under oath about the substance of their affidavits despite having been served with subpoenas. I conclude the affidavits of Cunningham and Peay are not credible.” Order p. 7. From the lower court’s comments and findings, it is readily apparent that the absence of Peay and Cunningham, which resulted from the court’s failure to grant a continuance, was highly prejudicial and greatly impacted the lower court’s denial of Appellant’s motion. Therefore, Appellant urges this Court to find that the lower court erred in denying Appellant’s request for a continuance.

- II. The lower court erred in finding that the evidence offered was newly available evidence that could be used merely for impeachment and would not have changed the outcome of a trial.

By way of the underlying motion, Appellant alleged after discovered evidence that warrants a new trial. To prevail on this claim a defendant “must show that the after-discovered evidence: 1) is such that it would probably change the result if a new trial were granted; 2) has been discovered since the trial; 3) could not in the exercise of due diligence been discovered prior to trial; 4) is material; and 5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.” State v. Spann, 334 S.C. 618, 619, 513 S.E.2d 98, 99 (1999) (citing State v. Prince, 316 S.C. 57, 447 S.E.2d 177 (1993); See Hayden v. State, 278 S.C. 610, 299 S.E.2d 854 (1983).

The decision whether to grant a new trial rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the appellate court will not disturb the trial court's decision absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Johnson, 376 S.C. 8, 11, 654 S.E.2d 835, 836 (2007); State v. Simmons, 279 S.C. 165, 166, 303 S.E.2d 857, 858 (1983). In State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 166-67, 672 S.E.2d 556, 565 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court has held:

In this post-trial setting, our jurisprudence recognizes the gatekeeping role of the trial court in making a credibility assessment. State v. Porter, 269 S.C. 618, 621, 239 S.E.2d 641, 643 (1977) (noting that the determination of whether new evidence is credible for purposes of a new trial motion rests with the trial court); State v. Deese, 266 S.C. 534, 538, 225 S.E.2d 175, 176 (1976) (noting that the trial court is tasked with assessing the new evidence in a motion for a new trial); State v. Pierce, 263 S.C. 23, 33, 207 S.E.2d 414, 419 (1974) (quoting State v. Mayfield, 235 S.C. 11, 34-35, 109 S.E.2d 716, 729 (1959)) (“The credibility of newly-discovered evidence offered in support of a motion for a new trial is a matter for determination by the circuit judge to whom it is offered. In him, not this court, resides the power to weigh such evidence; and his judgment thereabout will not be disturbed except for error of law or abuse of discretion.”). On review, we may not make our own findings of fact. The deferential standard of review constrains us to affirm the trial court if reasonably supported by the evidence.

Despite the deferential standard of review, Appellant submits that the lower court erred in performing his gate keeping function when he failed to assess the credibility of the affidavits provided by Appellant and applied the incorrect standard to the affidavits of Peay and Cunningham. Thus, the lower court committed a reversible error of law.

By way of his written Order, it appears that the lower court did not directly assess the credibility of the affidavit of Appellant, which stated that the evidence at issue was not known to Appellant at the time of his plea and that he exercised all due diligence in discovering the evidence within the last year. The Order does find that the evidence was timely submitted to the court or discovered within the last year, yet the Order also finds that the evidence is “merely newly available and not newly discovered.”

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