ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

RECEIVED

MAR 10 2015

Appeal from Lancaster County
Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

LAKEITHON M. HALL,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2013-002616

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ANTHONY MABRY
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, 6th Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 607
Lancaster, SC 29721
(803) 416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Lakeithon M. Hall, is confined in the S.C. Department of Corrections as a result of his 2002 Lancaster County guilty plea convictions for two (2) counts of murder, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime before the Honorable Paul Short, Circuit Court Judge, and resulting combined sentences of thirty-eight (38) years confinement. (*Ind. #s 2001-GS-29-71, 346, 72, 73*). This is an appeal from the November 2013 denial of a Rule 29, SCRCrimP, Motion for a New Trial based on alleged after-discovered evidence by the Honorable Brian Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge. That Motion was not filed until July 2013 approximately eleven (11) years after appellant's guilty pleas. (R. pp. 255-92, Tr. Aug. 30, 2013, R. pp. 342-50, Order denying motion for a new trial).

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 20, 2000, the victim, *Sheela* Jury, who was approximately eight (8) months pregnant, and her husband Thomas Jury were riding in their car in the City of Lancaster. Mr. Jury was driving. Mr. Jury had just cashed an insurance check, put the majority of the cash in the bank, and then paid a bill. On the way home, Mr. Jury realized he needed to return to the bank and obtain a money order to pay a bill. Mr. Jury took a short cut through a bad part of town and decided to turn around in an apartment complex parking lot. When he did, his path was blocked by a vehicle. Appellant, Lakeithon M. Hall, approached the Jury's car and attempted to rob the victims with a handgun. Appellant fired one (1) shot into the car which struck the victim Mrs. Jury in the shoulder. The bullet passed through her heart and lung but did not exit her body. She died from blood loss. Her unborn, but viable baby girl, *Sheila* Jury, died several days later as a result of the shooting after an emergency C-section was performed the day of the shooting due to the mother's

death. (R. pp. 41-50, Guilty plea Tr. pp. 13-22)

Police questioned an eyewitness/co-defendant of appellant, Calvin Peay (“Peay”). Peay initially denied any knowledge of the shooting. Peay *eventually* related **to police** that the victim’s husband was attempting to purchase drugs in the bad part of town, which Mr. Jury adamantly denies, when appellant decided to rob the family instead of selling drugs to the husband. Peay *eventually* admitted he handed appellant the revolver immediately before the murders. Peay also related that appellant fired the handgun into the victim’s car, and the victim’s husband sped away. Peay further related that, after the murder, he and appellant fled to Peay’s apartment where the revolver was placed under a mattress in Peay’s bedroom.¹ Based on the information Peay provided, police recovered the revolver under the mattress in Peay’s bedroom. Ballistics testing confirmed the gun appellant fired did in fact fire the bullet that was recovered from the victim, Mrs. Jury’s body, at autopsy. (R. pp. 41-50, Guilty Plea Tr. 13-22).

Mr. Jury also positively identified appellant from a photographic line-up as the person who murdered his wife and baby girl. Appellant was charged with the murders as well as attempted armed robbery and possession of a weapon during a violent crime.² (R. pp. 41-50, Guilty plea Tr. R. pp. 13-22).

Through further investigation and additional interrogation of appellant’s other

¹ In his fifth (5th) and final statement to police, Peay later tried to recant that he actually handed the gun to appellant; however, police did not accept or believe this later statement. (R. pp. 41-50, Guilty plea Tr. pp. 13-22).

² Appellant’s plea took place on December 6, 2002. After the Solicitor recited the facts surrounding the murders and appellant’s role, appellant, under oath, agreed with the Solicitor’s recitation. Appellant admitted he committed the murders and attempted to rob the victims Mr. and Mrs. Jury. (R. pp. 39-50, Guilty plea Tr. pp. 11-22). Appellant also apologized to the victim’s family for what he had done at his sentencing on December 9, 2002. (R. p. 60, Sentencing Tr. p. 9).

friends/co-defendants, police were able to obtain statements from two (2) of appellant's friends and co-defendants. Brandon Cunningham ("Cunningham")³ and Haywood Watts ("Watts")⁴ both eventually gave statements to police in which they admitted to being present at the time of the murders and witnessing appellant shoot the victim Sheela Jury. (R. pp. 41-50, Guilty plea Tr. pp. 13-22). At his guilty plea, under oath, appellant admitted he committed the murders. (R. p. 39, Guilty plea Tr. p. 11). Appellant also admitted he committed the crimes of attempted armed robbery and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. (R. p. 40, Guilty plea Tr. p. 12).

RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Original Charges

Appellant was indicted at the February 2001 term of the Lancaster County grand jury for two (2) counts of murder (*Ind. #s 2001-GS-29-71 & 346*), attempted armed robbery (*2001-GS-29-72*), and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (*2001-GS-29-73*). Appellant was subsequently indicted by the *Chester County* grand jury for burglary first (1st) degree, armed robbery, and kidnapping, unrelated to the Lancaster County

³ Cunningham, like Peay, in his first (1st) statement, initially told police he did not know anything about the murders. Cunningham then gave three (3) additional statements which were more incriminating, admitting appellant was the shooter. (See R. pp. 308, 313-29).

⁴Watts initially refused to talk to police. He then came in to the police station and gave his one (1) and only statement implicating appellant as the trigger-man. Watts came forward to police with his attorney Lionel Lofton, Esq. and gave a detailed statement that appellant murdered Ms. Jury and her unborn child. Watts told police he was just a few feet away and saw appellant near the driver's side door of the victim's car. He saw appellant raise his arm, and then Watts heard a gunshot. Watts said the victim's car then sped away. Watts said he could not see the gun because he believed another co-defendant's body [Brandon Cunningham's] was blocking his view. Watts said appellant and others who had been near the car, including Peay, then fled the scene toward Peay's apartment. (See statement of Haywood Watts, R. pp. 330-36).

charges.⁵ Ross A. Burton, Esquire, represented appellant on the charges. Solicitor Douglas A. Barfield, Jr. represented the State.

The Guilty Pleas

On December 6, 2002, appellant **pled guilty** as charged to **two (2) counts of murder, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime** (the Lancaster County charges) before Judge Short. (R. pp. 29-51, Guilty plea Tr. pp. 1-22). The Chester County indictments were *nolle prosequi* pursuant to the plea agreement.⁶ (R. 113-114, App. pp. 67-68). At his guilty plea, appellant admitted he murdered both victims, attempted to rob one (1) victim [Mr. Jury], and possessed a .38 caliber revolver during the commission of the murder and attempted armed robbery. Appellant also agreed with the facts of the crimes as recited by the Solicitor. (R. pp. 29-51, Guilty plea Tr. pp. 1-22).

⁵In the Chester County cases, appellant was charged with the burglary of a home which occurred on August 12, 2002 in which fourteen (14) guns were stolen. According to the burglary warrant, two (2) of the stolen guns were found in a vehicle appellant was operating, and the vehicle matched the description of a vehicle appellant was operating on August 9, 2002 when he came to the victim's residence asking for directions. Appellant was also charged with the separate armed robbery and kidnaping of a nightclub owner as he was closing his business. Apparently, when appellant was stopped in the above car by police, the car contained ski masks and gloves similar to those worn in the robbery of the nightclub owner. (See R. pp. 17-28).

⁶This was also a negotiated plea with regard to the Lancaster County charges. In exchange for the pleas of guilty, the State agreed the sentences on the four (4) indictments would run concurrently, and appellant would be sentenced under the statutory scheme for murder but *not to life in prison*. (R. p. 30, Guilty plea Tr. p. 2). Appellant was approximately sixteen (16) years old at the time of the Lancaster crimes. He was charged as an adult due to the nature of the charges. Appellant was nineteen (19) years old at the time of his plea. Prior to the plea, defense counsel and the Solicitor met privately with Judge Short and obtained a potential range of sentence, which was communicated to appellant, and he accepted. (R. pp. 114-15, App. pp. 68-69). Appellant was ultimately sentenced in that range. (R. p. 115, App. p. 69). The Solicitor agreed to dismiss the Chester charges as a result of appellant's pleas to the Lancaster charges and the strength of the Chester cases. (R. 113-14, App. pp. 67-68).

The Sentencing Proceeding

On December 9, 2002, a sentencing proceeding was conducted. Appellant apologized to the husband and father of the two (2) victims for the murders appellant committed and asked for Mr. Jury's forgiveness. Consistent with the negotiated plea and sentence, Judge Short sentenced appellant to thirty-eight (38) years for each murder, twenty (20) years for attempted armed robbery, and five (5) years for the weapon charge, and the sentences were ordered to run concurrently. Appellant did not appeal his guilty pleas or sentences. (R. pp. 52-66, Sentencing Tr. pp. 1-15).

The Post-Conviction Relief Action

Appellant filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on October 14, 2003 (2003-CP-29-960). In his application, appellant alleged the following grounds:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel
 - (a) Counsel was ineffective inasmuch as he failed to adequately investigate my case.
 - (b) Prior to my plea, counsel was ineffective inasmuch he failed to investigate and interview crucial witnesses.
 - (c) Prior to my plea, counsel was ineffective inasmuch he failed to adequately investigate exculpatory evidence of forensic reports to build possible defense to my case.

2. Involuntary Guilty Plea- My guilty plea was involuntarily, unknowingly, and unintelligently entered inasmuch counsel's pre-trial investigation of my case was inadequate, unreasonable, and prejudiced me into pleading guilty.

The State filed a Return and moved to dismiss all allegations except those of ineffective assistance of counsel. On March 1, 2006, a merits hearing was held at the Fairfield County Courthouse. The Honorable John C. Hayes, III. ("the PCR Court") presided. On March 2, 2006, in a written Order, the PCR Court granted Respondent's Motion to Dismiss appellant's allegation of involuntary

guilty plea and denied appellant's application for post-conviction relief with prejudice.

Findings in the Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief pertinent to this Appeal

In the Order, the PCR Court noted appellant alleged: (1) Ineffective assistance of counsel; and (2) Involuntary guilty plea. After reviewing the applicable law, the Court found and concluded appellant was fully advised of his rights and under oath affirmed he knew and understood the charges to which he was pleading guilty and the penalties applicable to the charges. (Referencing Plea Tr. at R. p. 34, l. 22 - p. 37, l. 13). Appellant confirmed counsel had done all Petitioner had asked him to do. (Ref. Plea Tr. at R. p. 40, ll. 10-18) and he understood the Court's questions and did not desire further explanation of his rights, the charges against him, and the penalties to which he was exposed. (Ref. Plea Tr. at R. p. 40, ll. 19-24). And, appellant confirmed, under oath, the underlying facts as to his commission of the murder of Mrs. Jury and her unborn child. (Ref. Plea Tr. at R. p. 41, l. 22 - p. 50, l. 8).⁷ Consequently, the Court found and concluded appellant had failed to carry his burden of proof and was not entitled to relief on these allegations, i.e. appellant's guilty pleas to murder, attempted armed robbery and the weapon charge were not involuntary.

The Court noted appellant also alleged counsel was ineffective for failing to properly investigate and interview witnesses. The Court pointed out counsel testified he obtained and reviewed the discovery, spoke with one (1) co-defendant (Mr. Peay) and talked to the adult victim's surviving spouse. Counsel also discussed the case with appellant and did not coerce appellant to plead guilty. In its Order, the Court implicitly found counsel credible and appellant

⁷ The Court also noted appellant complained he was not informed as to his parole eligibility, the existence of lesser included offenses, and "sentencing guidelines." The Court found there was no merit to these allegations.

was not. This is clear because appellant testified at the PCR hearing counsel did not review the evidence in the case with him prior to his plea. Counsel testified to the opposite, that he did review the evidence or discovery with appellant prior to his guilty plea. The PCR Court found and concluded, given the above, appellant's assertion counsel was ineffective in failing to properly investigate and interview witnesses was without merit.⁸ With regard to the remaining allegations, the Court granted Respondent's motion to dismiss and appellant's application for post-conviction relief was denied. The Order was filed March 16, 2006.

The Appeal from the Denial of Post-Conviction Relief

Appellant appealed from the denial of his PCR application by way of a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the South Carolina Supreme Court raising only one (1) issue: Trial counsel erred in failing to investigate into and develop a third-party guilt defense in the case?⁹ The State filed a Return to Petition for Certiorari. The case was transferred to this Court by order of the Supreme Court. On May 22, 2008, this Court denied the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

⁸ In its Order Denying Relief, the PCR Court did not specifically address the testimony of the three (3) witnesses appellant offered at PCR, nor did the Court make a specific finding regarding any failure to pursue a "third party guilt" defense. The Court did state counsel testified he reviewed the discovery and discussed the case with appellant. Two (2) of the witnesses offered at PCR did give written statements to police and those were reviewed by counsel prior to the plea. One (1) of those witnesses named the third (3rd) witness [who testified at PCR] in her statement, so counsel and appellant would have been aware of the third (3rd) witness through the discovery process. This witness gave a verbal statement to police. Counsel testified he reviewed the evidence or discovery with appellant prior to the guilty plea. (R. p. 129, App. p. 83). These three (3) witnesses, Takeisha Cunningham, Tara Evans, and Crystal Duncan were some distance from the murder of Mrs. Jury and her unborn child, were not as close as Mr. Jury, Haywood Watts, Brandon Cunningham, or Calvin Peay, and two (2) of these witnesses admitted they were not looking at Mr. Jury's car at the time of the murder. Consistent with their statements to police none of these witnesses identified appellant as being near the Jury's car. However, appellant knew of the availability of these witnesses at the time of his guilty plea.

⁹ This specific allegation as worded is not mentioned in appellant's PCR application. Nor is there any mention of "failing to investigate into and develop a third-party guilt defense" in the PCR Court's Order Denying Relief.

The Federal Habeas Action

Appellant then filed a petition for federal habeas corpus relief on July 7, 2008 (Docket No.: 09-7543) alleging the following:

Ground One: Petitioner was denied his constitutionally guaranteed right to the effective assistance of counsel.

Supporting Facts: (A): Failure to Adequately Investigate Petitioner's Case; (B): Counsel Failed to Investigate and Interview Crucial Witnesses; (C): Petitioner's plea was involuntary, unknowing, and unintelligent when counsel failed to do any reasonable pretrial investigation and in failing to do so prejudiced petitioner into pleading guilty; (D): Counsel was ineffective when counsel failed to investigate into and develop a plausible third-party guilt defense.

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